COPY

Second
Post - Conviction
Relief

FILED

JAN 11 2019

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal Brief

Submitted to
Ms. Court of Appeals
by Ronald Flood, Pro-se

Where a prisoner is Appealing Pro-se, the Court of Appeals takes that Fact into Account and, in its discretion, credits not so well pleaded allegations, quoting from McMillen V. State, 811 So.2d 446 (2001).

Meritorious claims of Pro-se Post-Conviction petitioners will not be avoided based on Inartfully drafted pleadings. West A.M.C. § 99-39-4 quoting from Winston V. State, 893 So.2d 274 (2005).

Statement of Issues

Title of the Main Issue

1.

The Facts of the Trial Court Violated his Due-process Rights by Failing to Conduct a Competency Hearing Under Rule 9.06

Part A

Did the Trial Court had a Reasonable ground to Believe the Defendant was Incompetent for a Mental Examination and Competency Hearing to be Determine to Stand Trial. Page 7.

Part B

The Facts of the Procedures of the Requirement under U.R.C.C.P. Rule 9.06 of a Defendant's Competency to Stand Trial. Page 11.

Part C

Was there a Violation in trial Court of Due-process of Law of the Defendant's Fundamental Constitutional Rights was Denied? Page 18

Statement of the Facts

1.

Defense Attorney raised the Issue of Hood Mental Competence by filing a Motion for Mental Examination, the Trial Court Granted and Order Dr. William C. Lott to conduct this Mental Examination on the Reasonable Ground of the Motion of itself, if its good enough of the Reasonable Ground for Mental Examination is also good for the Trial Court to conduct a Competency Hearing.

2.

Dr. Lott conducted the Forensic Mental Evaluation, after he mailed a Report of the results to Circuit Court Judge, the Judge base the decision on the Dr. Lott Report and denied Hood a Competency Hearing. Dr. Lott didn't Testified at Trial, his Report didn't admitted into Evidence. Dr. Lott report was Incomplete and Inadequate because he failed a Essential Element to a Mental Evaluation is Hood Mental Health Records for better results in determine someone Competence.

3.

Not only denied Hood a Competency Hearing by the Trial Court, he was also denied the Opportunity to present Substantial Evidence like his Mental Health Records, revealing the Contents of his Records could Indicated and Classified him to be Mentally Incompetent. Able to Confronted Dr. Lott in Contest his Report and Subpoena Witness.

In Ms. Court of Appeals

Ronald Hood
Vs
State of Mississippi

Appellant
Case No. 2017-CP-00165- COA
Appellee

Appeal Brief

Comes Now, Appellant, Ronald Hood pro-se, files this his Appeal against the Denial of his 2nd PCR by Circuit Court on the Issue, [Trial Court Violated his Due-process Rights by failing to conduct a Competency Hearing] under URCCCP, Rule 9.06. Appellant seeks Relief on this Issue, will show this Honorable Court the following Reasons and Facts in Support thereof to Writ:

Introduction - the History of 2nd P.C.R.

Hood filed 2nd PCR out of Time Appeal on Errors Affecting Fundamental Constitutional Rights May be excepted from Procedural Bars of the UPLCRA and § 49-39-5(2), and Rowland V. State, 42 So. 3d 503 (2010). Filed in Ms. Supreme Court on 10-27-15 with Application for Leave to Proceed in the Trial Court and with Exhibits of Mental Health Records, in Fact the records wasn't Presented at Trial Court for review, Ms.

Supreme Court accepted the Out of Time Appeal of 2nd PCR and order the State to Response on 1-7-16^{see Exhibit A} and after 3.

Extension of Time, the state filed a Brief on 2nd PCR on 2-4-16, Rebuttal filed on 4-4-16, and

Ms. Supreme Court granted 2nd PCR Application, on one Issue that "the Trial Court Violated his Due-process Rights by failing to conduct a Competency Hearing." Order date 4-20-16^{See Exhibit B} Yazoo Co Circuit Court Judge Jannie M. Lewis denied Hood's 2nd PCR on 4-21-17^{See Exhibit C on record p. 1}. After waiting almost a year, Hood end up filing a Writ-Mandamus in Ms. Supreme Court to get her to respond in ruling of the 2nd PCR was filed 2-6-17. After my 2nd PCR was denied, I timely filed a Notice of Appeal with Application to Proceed in Forma Pauperis and Financial Authorization was Mailed 5-18-17. Designation of Records and Certificate of Compliance was Mailed 5-25-17. All 5 documents was filed in Yazoo Co Circuit Court on 6-30-17 by Clerk Robert Coleman. From the date of 6-30-17 Yazoo Co Circuit Court was in Violation of MRAP 11(d)(1)(2) for 16 months of Delayed and Blocking Hood from filing any Appeal Brief in this Court of Appeals in getting a Briefing Schedule, due to a deficiency in Procedure Default by this Circuit Court. On 11-13-18 Hood received his Briefing Schedule and Incomplete certified Record because there is No Documents in this Record Pertaining or Related to his Issue of 2nd PCR on the Trial Court Violated his Due-process Rights by failing to conduct a Competency Hearing, this Issue is the Issue granted 2nd PCR Application to go back to Trial Court on, of this Issue 2nd PCR was denied without any hearing. see Exhibit of Record on page 10 + 14

Summary of Argument

Defense Attorney Trent L. Walker, had raised an Issue in the Light of the Trial Court attention by filing a Motion for Mental Examination of the Defendant Competence on April 16, 2007, Motion stated: "The Defense submits that there is Reason to Question (Whether Ronald Hood will be able to assist in his defense at Trial of this matter, that he does Not have the present ability to consult with his lawyer with a Reasonable Degree of Rational Understanding to adequately assist with his Defense") see Exhibit D. (This Motion is the Reasonable Ground)

Ms. Supreme Court granted Hood's 2nd PCR on the Application for Leave to Proceed in the Trial Court on one Issue that "the Trial Court Violated his Due-process Rights by failing to conduct a Competency Hearing" see Exhibit

This Court granted this Issue because it has Merit of Denied Due-process of someone Rights. Regardless of the Facts on the outcome from having a Mental Examination, if he is Competent or Incompetent to stand Trial. Under Due-process of Law of Rule 9.06 it's a Mandate for a Defendant to have a Competency Hearing after a Mental Examination. This is Not the Issue of a debate on a question of Hood's Competence in this Appeal, it's on the Facts with Violated of Hood Due-process of Law of U R C C P rule 9-06.

Because the MS. Supreme Court granted on the one Issue
 "the Trial Court Violated Flood's Due-process Rights by
 failing to conduct a Competency Hearing".

"The Petitioner need Not Establish that he was
 Incompetent to stand Trial to Obtain Relief, rather he
 need only Establish that the Trial Judge should have
 ordered a Hearing to determine his Competency".
 quoting from Robert V. Dretke, 381 F.3d 491 (2004).

It's Not for an Appeal to Argue the Facts of
 Someone Competent or Incompetent to Determining
 this Issue it's the Purposes of a Competency Hearing.
 The Appeal is to Determining the Facts if there is a Due-process
Rights was Violated and is he Entitled of any Relief Under
Rule 9-06, of denied a Competency Hearing.

(Yazoo County Circuit Judge Jannie M. Lewis granted
 the Motion for Mental Examination and order for a Clinical
 Psychologist Dr. W. Criss Lott to be conducted a Forensic
 Evaluation was conducted Oct 4, 2007^{See Exhibit E.} The Judge failed
 to Conduct a Competency Hearing and Make an on-the-
 record finding and also failed to give Flood the Opportunity
 to present Substantial Evidence of his Incompetency
 like Mental Health Records, subpoena witnesses, able to
 confronted Dr. Lott in Contest his Report to the Court on
 Mental Evaluation. Dr. Lott didn't Testified at Flood's
 Trial, and his report wasn't admitted into Evidence at
 Trial). See Exhibit F.

(The Trial Court in Fact had a Reasonable Ground it was the Motion of itself, filed by the Defense Attorney and the Issue of Hood's Competence had come into the Light and had been raised by the Trial Court when the Judge had granted the Motion for Mental Examination it became Mandate required this Circuit Court to conduct a Competency Hearing and Make the Findings a Matter of Record under URCCCP Rule 9.06).

When Making Mental Competency determinations, the Trial Court has No Authority to rely on a report of the Mental Health Examination while depriving the Defendant of a Hearing in which he might Contest the Conclusions of the Examiners * quoting from Coleman v. State, 127 So-3d 161 (Miss 2013) *.

(The Circuit Court Judge base her decision of Hood's Competence alone upon Dr. Lott Mental Evaluation Report in Violation of URCCCP Rule 9.06 and Due-process of Law in denied Hood a Competency Hearing to give him the Opportunity to Present his Mental Health Records of his claim of Incompetent to this Circuit Court with the Assistance of Professional Legal Attorney, Of this Judge decision shouldn't be Acceptable in denied a person of a Competency Hearing in Violated Due-process of Rule 9.06. Mr. Hood does have Mental Health Issue's could very be incompetence, should be determining in a Competency Hearing as Rule 9.06 stated. I have Establish that he is Entitled for a Competency Hearing and shown that Trial Judge should have ordered this Hearing under Rule 9.06).

Once the Issue of Competency is Raised, the Trial Judge is Obligated to Conduct a Hearing in Order to decide if a probability Exists that the Defendant is Capable of Making a Rational Defense. see Ficklin V. State, 2000 758 So.2d 457⁽⁹⁾ (Hood's Competency has been Raised when the Circuit court Granted the Motion for Mental Examination and Order Dr. W Criss Lott to Conduct a Forensic Mental Examination if Hood is Competent to Stand Trial. Dr. Lott filed a Incomplete and Inadequate Report to the Trial Court because he failed Essential Element in a Mental Competency Examination a Mental Health Records determine a better results on the person Competency. Dr. Lott report should be Inadmissible or Impeachment on the grounds mention above).

Once the Trial Court has Ordered an Evaluation and that Evaluation has been Completed, a Competency Hearing must be held pursuant to URCCCP 9-06, which provides that "after the Examination [regarding the Competency of the Defendant] the Court shall conduct a Hearing to determine if the Defendant is Competent to stand Trial." see case Holliman V. State, 129 So.3d 937 (Miss. Ct. App. 2013) and also see 2 MS Prac. Encyclopedia - MS Law § 17-13 Competency Hearing.

In that opinion the Supreme Court strictly interpreted Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 9-06 to Mandate a Competency Hearing in Every case where the Trial Court has ordered a Psychological Exam. see Sanders 9 So.3d at 1136 (16). Quoting from Brown V. State, 198 So.3d 325²⁰ (2015).

Title of the Main Issue

1.

The Facts of the Trial Court Violated his
Due-process Rights by Failing
to Conduct a Competency Hearing Under Rule 9.06

Part A.

Did the Trial Court had a Reasonable
Ground to Believe the Defendant was Incompetent
for a Mental Examination and Competency
Hearing to be Determine to Stand Trial?

Having "Reasonable Grounds" is Key in assessing
the Trial Court's responsibility to Order a Competency
Hearing, Id. quoting from Whatley v. State, 123 So-3d
461⁽²⁶⁾ (2013). (In Hood's case the Reasonable Grounds
was in fact the Motion for Mental Examination
by itself).

The Court must First have Reasonable Grounds to
believe that the Defendant is Incompetent to Stand Trial.
If it does, then the Court must order a Mental
Examination. Only after the Mental Examination
occurs shall the Defendant receive a Competency
Hearing. quoting from Hlairston v State, 4 So-3d 403
(14) (2009).

(The Reasonable Grounds was Hood's Motion for Mental Examination, file by Defense Attorney - If it was Not a Reasonable Grounds in the light of Circuit Court Judge to order a Mental Examination, the only Evidence in the light for her to see is the contents in that Motion she able to determine the Reasonable Ground. This same Reasonable Ground she granted the Motion on, is in Fact is good enough for a Competency Hearing that she Violated Hood Due-process Rights in denied him a Competency Hood, this is a True Fact shows she has a Reasonable Grounds).

"Here, the Trial Court clearly had Reasonable Grounds to believe Jay was Incompetent to Stand Trial, as Evidenced by the Order for a Psychiatric Evaluation.

The United States Supreme Court has held that a Criminal defendant's "Constitutional Rights were abridged by his failure to Receive an Adequate hearing on his Competence to Stand Trial." quoting from Jay V. State, 25 So-3d 25³⁵ (2009). (Jay case is similar to Hood's case when it became on the same issue of Reasonable Ground of his Trial Court believe Jay was Incompetent to stand Trial, Evidenced was his Order for a Psychiatric Evaluation. The Fact is that Jay Reasonable Ground in this case was the order by his Trial Court also good for Receive an Adequate Competency Hearing, shown that Jay was Violated by his Due-process Rights by failing to Conduct a Competency Hearing. There is No different in this case compare to Hood's case

because both case's is Violated a Due-process Rights of denied a Competency Hearing. But Jay got some Relief in his case).

The language of Rule 9.06 is clear and it is simple. If a Trial Court has Reasonable Ground to believe that the Defendant is Incompetent to stand Trial, the Court shall Order the Defendant to submit to a Mental Examination" U R C C C 9.06 (emphasis add). "After the Examination the Court shall conduct a Hearing to determine if the Defendant is Competent to stand Trial. After hearing all the Evidence, the Court shall weight the Evidence and make a determination of Whether the Defendant is Competent to Stand Trial." Id (emphasis added) In other words, When a Motion for a Mental Examination has been Granted, such an Examination Must Occur, and then a Separate Competency Hearing Must be Conducted before Trial begins. quoting from Coleman V. State, 177 So. 3d 161⁽¹⁴⁾ (2013).

Rule 9.06 requires an On-The-Record hearing to determine Competency once the Court have Reasonable Ground to believe that the Defendant is Incompetent. The Rule clearly uses the directive "Shall" and Not the permissive "May" language. The Rule requires that the Trial Court First "Shall Conduct a Hear to determine if the Defendant is Competent" and second "Shall make the Finding a Matter of Record, U R C C C 9.06, In the Face of this Plain Language, it is Evident that it would be Error Not to hold a Competency Hearing once a Trial Court order a

Psychiatric Evaluation to determine Competency to Stand Trial. quoting from Sanders V. State, 9 So.3d 1132 (16) (2009).

A Defendant is Denied his Due-process Rights when the Trial Court fails, to Observe Procedures Adequate to Protect a Defendant's Right Not to be Tried or Convicted while Incompetent to Stand Trial.

Rule 9.06 is Meant to Ensure that a Defendant's Due-Process Rights are Not Violated. It provides that if the Court has Reasonable Ground to believe that the Defendant is Incompetent to Stand Trial, a Hearing shall be conducted to Determine whether he is Mentally Fit to stand Trial. quoting from Coleman V. State, 127 So.3d 161 (13) (2013).

Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice 9.06 requires that a Trial Court order a Psychiatric Evaluation if it has Reasonable Grounds to believe that the Defendant is Incompetent to Stand Trial. The Rule further requires that if a Reasonable Grounds exists to believe the accused is Incompetent, then the Trial Court must also order a Competency Hearing. quoting from Evans V. State, 984 So.2d 308 (9) (2007). (Wow, it was a Mouthful of True Facts on Rule 9.06, on Reasonable Grounds. From these Facts had proving that Hood Trial Court did have a Reasonable Ground to Order a Mental Examination because, the Motion for Mental Examination itself Shows Hood's Mental Competency is in Question of Incompetence, but when the Trial Court received the Mental Examination Report from Dr. Lott,

there is one problem if the Trial Court did received Dr. Lott report and able to review it there is No proof of this only what was said. There is No on-the-Record-finding of Hood Competence and the Report was Not Admitted into Evidence at Trial and Dr Lott didn't Testified at Trial. Lets assume the Court did received this Report, but failed to be know on-the-Record-Finding and admitted the Report into Evidence. Base the Decision on this Report feel Hood is Competent to stand Trial without a Competency Hearing. Trial Court has a Reasonable Grounds when order a Mental Examination but denied to conduct a Competency Hearing in Violation of Due-process of Law of a person Rights and Rule 9.06. In regardless of any Results from having a Mental Examination, under Rule 9.06 still stands on itself clearly after a Mental Examination a Competency Hearing shall be Conducted.

Part B

The Facts of the Procedures of the Requirement under U.R.C.C.C.P Rule 9.06 Defendant's Competency to stand Trial.

The Procedures of Rule 9.06 are in place to Protect the Due-process Rights of Defendant whose Competency to stand Trial is in doubt. Because Competency to stand Trial is decided by the Trial Judge, under the Mississippi procedure now prescribed by Rule 9.06. quoting from Sander v. State, 9 so.3d 1133 (31) (34) (2009) (It sounds like Trial Courts are bound to follow each Procedures of Rule 9.06, If any of the Procedures is denied its a Violation of Due-process of Law.)

Over four decades ago, the United States Supreme Court held in Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375-86-5. Ct. 836. 15 L. Ed. 2d 815 (1966), that when the Evidence Raises sufficient Doubt as to a Defendant's Mental Ability to stand Trial, that Defendant is deprived of Due-process of Law when the Trial Court does Not Conduct a Separate Competency Hearing. This Rule is No less Viable today, and this Court has attempted to Safeguard this Right in the form of Rule 9.06 of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice. Rule 9.06 sets forth a clear Procedure to be followed when a Defendant's present Mental Competency is in Question. quoting from Sanders v. State, 4 so-3d 1132⁽²⁹⁾ (2009).

Lets break down the Facts of the 6 Steps
in the Requirements of Rule 9.06

1. If before or during Trial, of its own Motion or upon Motion of an Attorney, has Reasonable Ground to believe that the Defendant is Incompetent to Stand Trial.
2. the Court shall Order the Defendant to Submit to a Mental Examination by some Competent Psychiatrist Selected by the Court in Accordance with § 44-13-11.
3. After the Examination the Court shall Conduct a Hearing to determine if the Defendant is Competent to Stand Trial.
4. If the Court finds that the Defendant is Competent to Stand Trial, then the Court shall make the Finding a Matter of Record.

5. and the Case will then Proceed to Trial.

6. If the Court Finds that the Defendant is Incompetent to Stand Trial, then the Court shall Commit the Defendant to the Mississippi State Hospital or other appropriate Mental Health Facility. The Order of Commitment shall require that the Defendant be Examined and a Written Report be Furnished to the Court every Four Calendar Months, stating.

(In Acknowledge the Facts that the Purpose of Rule 9.06 is for a Defendant Mental Competence came into the light of Questionable that he could be Incompetent to Stand Trial of a Reasonable doubt, once the TRIAL Court Judge order a Mental Examination the Door has been opening to Invoke all of the Procedures of Rule 9.06. If the Trial Court Judge denied any Procedures of the Defendant has a Fundamental Constitutional Rights to have by this Rule 9.06, it would be a Violation of Due-process Rights. By this Rule 9.06 of Procedures of 3 and 4 Hood was denied of by Circuit Court Judge. Trial Court is bound by Due-process of Law to follow Rule 9.06 when a Defendant has a Reasonable Ground and it became Mandate after Order a Mental Examination had been conduct and also require by this same Rule to have a Competency Hearing. Trial Court has No Authority to stop a Procedures or denied someone Rights, he has a right to receive under Due-process of Law. Order a Mental Examination is also for Competency Hearing under this Rule 9.06 for both to be Conduct to be determine before Trial).

Rule 9.06 of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice provides the procedure for a Circuit Court's determination of whether a Criminal Defendant is Mentally Competent to Stand Trial," quoting from Brasso V. State, 195 So.3d 856, 860 (12) (Miss. Ct. App. 2018)

Rule 9.06 is Meant to Ensure that a Defendant's Due-process Rights are Not Violated, Id - quoting from Phinizee V. State, --- So.3d --- ⁽¹⁰⁾ (2018).

Mississippi Supreme Court held that the "Plain Language" of Rule 9.06 requires "a Competency Hearing once a Trial Court orders a Psychiatric Evaluation to determine competency to Stand Trial." The Supreme Court also recently held that "when a Motion for a Mental Examination has been granted, such an Examination must occur, and then a Separate Competency Hearing must be conducted before Trial begins." quoting from Silvia V. State, 175 So.3d 533⁽¹¹⁾ (2015) see Coleman V. State, 127 So.3d 161, 166, (14) (Miss. 2013).

These procedures were clearly followed in this case. (Under Rule 9.06) see Tutor V. State, 933 So.2d 1003 (2006).

We find that the Trial Court followed all Requirements of Rule 9.06 in determining Beasley was Competent to Stand Trial, see Beasley V. State, 136 So.3d 393⁽¹¹⁾ (2014).

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