IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RONALD HOOD

VS.

APPELLANT

NO. 2017-CP-00165

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LAURA H. TEDDER SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL **MISSISSIPPI BAR NO. 9530**

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The law presumes a criminal defendant competent to stand trial. *Evans v. State*, 226 So.3d 1, 13–14, 2017 WL 2592415, (Miss. June 15, 2017). And the defendant bears the burden to prove "by substantial evidence that [he or she] is mentally incompetent to stand trial." *Evans v. State*, 725 So.2d 613, 660 (Miss. 1997) (quoting *Medina v. California*, 505 U.S. 437, 448, 112 S.Ct. 2572, 120 L.Ed. 2d 353 (1992)).

Sanders strict application of the provisions of URCCC 9.06 is not retroactive and does not apply to Ronald Hood's 2007 conviction. Even if *Sanders* applies retroactively to this case, the trial court complied with the purpose and spirit of *Sanders* and correctly denied Hood's Motion for Post-Conviction Collateral Relief.

Further, the Court in *Pitchford v. State*, 240 So.3d 1061 (Miss. 2017), has held that a trial court's competency evaluation order does not in and of itself conclusively (or necessarily) establish, for purposes of URCCC 9.06's mandates, or for appellate review purposes, that the trial court had reasonable grounds to believe the defendant was incompetent to stand trial. The determination must be made based on the facts and circumstances attending each particular case.*Pitchford* at 1069 ¶42.

The trial judge did not err in not conducting a competency hearing on the record prior to trial. Further, the trial judge's Order denying Hood's Motion for Post-Conviction Collateral Relief, wherein she applied the correct standard to the evidence presented, constituted a valid retrospective competency hearing as permitted by the holding in *Pitchford*. The Court in *Pitchford* held unequivocally that "failure to hold a competency hearing can be cured retroactively." *Pitchford* at 1070. The Court in *Pitchford* held that where sufficient

information is available to conduct a meaningful hearing to evaluate retrospectively the defendant's competence to stand trial, such a process does not violate due process standards." When she entered her Order denying post-conviction relief, the trial judge had before her Hood's psychiatric evaluation conducted by Dr. Chriss Lott, the medical records Hood attached to his Petition, her own recollection of Hood's demeanor and conduct at trial, as well as the transcript of the trial. The review of this evidence was sufficient to allow the trial judge to conduct a sufficient retroactive hearing on the basis of the written record. Accordingly, Hood was not denied his due process rights by the lack of a hearing prior to trial.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE: The trial court did not violate Hood's due process rights by failing to conduct a mental competency hearing, since the record included the findings of Dr. Chriss W. Lott that Hood was competent to stand trial and was not in need of further psychiatric services.

A. Sanders is not retroactive and does not apply to Ronald Hood's 2007 conviction.

Hood relies on *Sanders v.* State, 9 So.3d 1132 (Miss. 2009). Sanders moved for a competency examination prior to trial. *Id.* at 1136. After the examination, no competency hearing was held. The *Sanders* Court announced that URCCCPR 9.06 required an on-the-record hearing after a competency examination. However, because Hood was tried in 2007, *Sanders* does not apply because it represents a change in procedure which is not retroactive. *Manning v. State*, 929 So.2d 855, 899, (Miss. 2006). Therefore, the requirement in *Sanders* should not be applied.

In *Brown v. State*, 198 So.3d 325 (Miss.Ct.App. 2015), Brown had pleaded guilty in 1999 and was pursuing post-conviction relief. He argued that his conviction must be vacated due to the lack of a formal competency hearing, relying on the 2009 Mississippi Supreme Court ruling in *Sanders*, 9 So.3d at 1136 (¶ 16). In that opinion, the Mississippi Supreme Court strictly interpreted Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 9.06 to mandate a competency hearing in every case where the trial court has ordered a psychological exam. *Sanders*, 9 So.3d at 1136 (¶ 16). Brown reasoned that, since he underwent a court-ordered mental exam, the trial court had to conduct a formal competency hearing before accepting his guilty plea, and that the court's failure to do so entitled him to a new trial. But *Sanders* and the later cases that have relied on *Sanders* do not apply to Brown's 1999 guilty plea because they are not retroactive. See *Brown v. State*, 198 So. 3d 325, 331 (Miss. Ct. App. 2015). As in *Brown*, the trial court followed the procedure required at the time Hood entered his plea. There is a presumption that the lower courts rule and act correctly. Therefore, it is presumed that the circuit court would have conducted a separate hearing before the plea hearing, if it had been required at the time Brown entered his plea.

Jones argues that the trial court erred when it failed to conduct a mental competency hearing pursuant to Mississippi Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 9.06 after ordering him to undergo a competency examination at the Mississippi State Hospital. He explains that the court, instead of conducting the hearing, entered an order sua sponte that he was competent to stand trial. According to Jones, the court's error prevented him from presenting evidence to rebut the evaluation filed by the Mississippi State Hospital. The State argues that the circuit court had sufficient information to determine that Jones was competent upon receiving the mental evaluation from the hospital.

In Jones v. State, 902 So.2d (Miss.Ct.App. 2004), the Court relied on the language of

Rule 9.06, which states in part:

If before or during trial the court, of its own motion or upon motion of an attorney, has reasonable ground to believe that the defendant is incompetent to stand trial, the court shall order the defendant to submit to a mental examination by some competent psychiatrist selected by the court in accordance with § 99-13-11 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972.

After the examination the court shall conduct a hearing to determine if the defendant is competent to stand trial. After hearing all the evidence, the court shall weigh the evidence and make a determination of whether the defendant is competent to stand trial.

The Jones Court held that the provisions of URCCCP 9.06 make clear the trial court's

obligation to order a competency hearing under certain circumstances. Jones (citing Howard v.

State, 701 So.2d 274, 280-81 (Miss.1997)). The real question, then, is whether 'reasonable grounds' existed to believe that [the accused] was incompetent or insane. *Jones* (citing *Conner v*. *State*, 632 So.2d 1239 (Miss.1993)). Only if such reasonable grounds exist, does URCCCP 9.06 mandate a competency hearing. *Id*. The determination of what is 'reasonable,' of course, rests largely within the discretion of the trial judge. *Id*. He sees the evidence first hand; he observes the demeanor and behavior of the defendant." *Id*.

The *Jones* Court noted that for purposes of reviewing a decision to forego a competency hearing, the Court applied the test enunciated by the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals: "Did the trial judge receive information which, objectively considered, should reasonably have raised a doubt about defendant's competence and alerted him to the possibility that the defendant could neither understand the proceedings, appreciate their significance, nor rationally aid his attorney in his defense?" *Jones v. State*, 902 So. 2d 593, 597 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). This was the standard in place at the time of Hood's trial in December of 2007.

The strict application of URCCCR 9.06 announced in *Sanders* does not apply retroactively to Hood. Hood was convicted on December 11, 2007, almost two years before the Mississippi Supreme Court announced the rule in *Sanders* on May 28, 2009. Hood is not on direct appeal; he is before this Court in a post-conviction relief action. Since his direct appeal was not pending when the Supreme Court made its holding in *Sanders, Sanders* would only apply to Hood's case if the holding applied retroactively. The holding in *Sanders* does not apply retroactively because it is a rule that applies to procedure. "New rules of procedure, on the other hand, generally do not apply retroactively." *Manning v. State*, 929 So.2d 855, 899, (Miss. 2006).

8

The Mississippi Supreme Court announced in *Manning v. State*, 929 So.2d 855, 900 (Miss. 2006), that it would continue to apply the very limited retroactive standard set forth by the United States Supreme Court in *Teague v. Lane*, 489 U.S. 288, 311 (1989). The Court observed in *Manning*, "The principle announced in *Teague* serves to ensure that gradual developments in the law over which reasonable jurists may disagree are not later used to upset the finality of state convictions valid when entered. This is but a recognition that the purpose of federal habeas corpus is to ensure that state convictions comply with the federal law in existence at the time the conviction became final, and not to provide a mechanism for the continuing reexamination of final judgments based upon later emerging legal doctrine." *Sawyer*, 497 U.S. at 234, 110 S.Ct. 2822.

In *Teague v. Lane*, 489 U.S. 288, 311, 109 S.Ct. 1060, 103 L.Ed.2d 334, 356 (1989), the United States Supreme Court held, by a plurality vote that "a new rule of constitutional law will not be applied retroactively to a case on habeas review unless it falls within one of two limited exceptions." "The first exception suggested by Justice Harlan-that a new rule should be applied retroactively if it places 'certain kinds of primary, private individual conduct beyond the power of the criminal law-making authority to proscribe,'" (Citing *Mackey v. United States*, 401 U.S. 667, 692, 91 S.Ct. 1160, 1180, 28 L.Ed.2d 404 (1971)). The second exception is "reserved for watershed rules of criminal procedure." *Teague*, 489 U.S. at 311, 109 S.Ct. 1060. In approving this plurality decision, the United States Supreme Court later held that:

The principle announced in Teague serves to ensure that gradual developments in the law over which reasonable jurists may disagree are not later used to upset the finality of state convictions valid when entered. This is but a recognition that the purpose of federal habeas corpus is to ensure that state convictions comply with the federal law in existence at the time the conviction became final, and not to provide a mechanism for the continuing reexamination of final judgments based upon later emerging legal doctrine.

Sawyer, 497 U.S. at 234, 110 S.Ct. 2822. Finding this rationale was consistent with the

Mississippi Uniform Post-Conviction Collateral Relief ("PCR") Act, the Mississippi Supreme

Court opined that:

Accordingly, in determining whether a prisoner may avail himself of an intervening decision, this Court applies our PCR act to determine whether an issue raised on PCR is one warranting relief from waiver based on cause and actual prejudice, as contemplated by § 99-39-21(1), or one not procedurally barred, although litigated at trial and on direct appeal, because of the existence of cause and actual prejudice, as contemplated by § 99-39-21(2). Application of this test is based on state law grounds. See Miss.Code Ann. §§ 99-39-3, 99-39-21(1), and 99-39-21(2) (Supp.1993).

As to the cause element of the PCR Act, we found that Powers did create a new rule of law and that prior to the new rule, there was no indication that Batson would be changed; therefore, the showing of cause had been met by the intervening decision. [citation omitted] We relied heavily on *Teague* in determining if there was a showing of actual prejudice. We determined that pursuant to *Teague* the defendant would have to show actual prejudice within one of the two exceptions enumerated by the Supreme Court.

The first *Teague* exception is not met in this case because the rule is merely procedural,

requiring a certain order of operation and method of recording of a finding. Accord Teague, 489

U.S. at 311, 109 S.Ct. at 1075-76, 103 L.Ed.2d at 356. Stated differently, the new rule does not

place a category of primary conduct beyond the reach of the criminal law nor does it prohibit

punishment for a class of defendants. Teague, 489 U.S. at 311, 109 S.Ct. at 1075-76, 103

L.Ed.2d at 356. The second *Teague* exception does not assist Hood because it is limited to those

new procedures without which the likelihood of an accurate conviction is seriously diminished.

Restated, "absence of a fair cross section on the jury venire does not undermine the fundamental

fairness that must underlie a conviction or seriously diminish the likelihood of obtaining an

accurate conviction." under the second exception." *Teague*, 489 U.S. at 315, 109 S.Ct. at 1078, 103 L.Ed.2d at 359. Therefore, because there was no actual prejudice suffered by Hood, he was not entitled to relief pursuant to the Act. Further, the *Sanders* decision should not be applied retroactively to Hood's final conviction as the *Sanders* rule is not a prerequisite to fundamental fairness of the type that may come within the exception." *Id.* It is merely a rule of procedural process. Accordingly, the State submits that *Sanders v. State*, 9So.3d 1132 (Miss. 2009) does not apply. Under the former, less strict, interpretation of URCCC 9.06, the trial court did not err by not conducting a competency hearing on the record prior to trial.

B. Even if *Sanders* applies retroactively to this case, the trial court complied with the purpose and spirit of *Sanders* and the trial court's denial of Hood's Motion for Post-Conviction Collateral Relief should be affirmed.

Hood asserts that he should have been provided an on-the-record competency hearing pursuant to Rule 9.06 and that his Second Amendment Due Process rights were violated by the trial court's failure to conduct a competency hearing. Hood's present PCR motion is well beyond the three-year time-bar and is successive. See Miss.Code Ann. § 99–39–5(2) (Supp.2014); Miss.Code Ann. § 99–39–23(6) (Supp.2014). However, Hood asserts that these bars do not apply due to the "fundamental rights" exception of *Rowland v. State*, 42 So.3d 503, 507 (Miss.2010), and because he has newly discovered evidence, Miss.Code Ann. § 99–39–5(2)(a)(i); Miss.Code Ann. § 99–39–23(6). Hood cites *Sanders v. State*, 9 So.3d 1132 (Miss. 2009), in support of his argument that his conviction must be reversed because the trial court did not conduct an on-the-record competency exam, despite having ordered Hood to undergo a competency exam.

Although the trial court did not conduct an on-the-record competency hearing after

ordering a mental evaluation, the purpose of URCCCP Rule 9.06 was satisfied where a mental evaluation report with a finding that the defendant was competent to stand trial was made a part of the record considered by the trial court in the trial and sentencing of the defendant. The record shows that Hood's attorney requested a mental competency exam to determine whether Hood was competent to stand trial. The trial judge granted the motion for the reasons stated in the motion by defense counsel. Hood was evaluated for mental competency by a psychiatrist, who, applying the correct legal standard, made a forensic finding that Hood was competent to stand trial. The trial judge a part of the record that the trial judge relied on in the trial and sentencing of Hood. The evaluation was made just two months prior to trial, so that the assessment provided a current status of Hood's competency at the time of trial.

In this case, defense counsel requested a mental competency evaluation to determine Hood's competency to stand trial. The examination was conducted two months prior to trial, on October 4, 2007, by psychologist, W. Chriss Lott, Ph.D. Lott conducted a thorough evaluation and made specific findings in his report regarding Hood's ability to stand trial. Lott noted in his Mental Status Evaluation of Mr. Hood:

[Hood] was alert, attentive and responded promptly to questions. He was precisely oriented. His speech was appropriate and his responses were at all times coherent and goal directed. There were no significant expressive and receptive language deficits noted.

Dr. Lott determined that Hood had a Full Scale IQ Score of 89, which is within the average range. His recent remove and immediate memory appeared intact. His reading level was at the low borderline range and at the 4.7 grade level. His verbal abstracting abilities were in the low average range. Dr. Lott assessed Hood as having a GAF (Global Assessment of

Functioning) score of 71, indicating that Hood had a slight impairment in work or school with occasional symptoms that are expected reactions to psychological stressors. See DSM V. Hood, despite his protests was a fairly high functioning individual in the month prior to trial.

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